IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

NO. 16-1884

---

TINA LEE

Plaintiff/Appellant

vs.

STATE OF IOWA and POLK COUNTY CLERK OF COURT

Defendants/Appellee

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT

FOR POLK COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JAMES RICHARDSON

---

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

---

Paige Fiedler AT0002496  
[paige@employmentlawiowa.com](mailto:paige@employmentlawiowa.com)  
Brooke Timmer AT0008821  
[brooke@employmentlawiowa.com](mailto:brooke@employmentlawiowa.com)  
8831 Windsor Parkway  
Johnston, IA 50131  
Telephone (515) 254-1999  
Facsimile (515) 254-9923  
ATTORNEYS FOR  
PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

##

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

**I. THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY CUTTING PLAINTIFF'S FEES FAR MORE DRASTICALLY THAN WOULD FAIRLY ACCOUNT FOR HER INABILITY TO RECOVER RESTROSPECTIVE RELIEF**

**Cases**

*Hensley v. Eckerhart*, 461 U.S. 424 (1983)  
*Lee v. State*, 874 N.W.2d 631 (Iowa 2016).

**A. THE DISTRICT COURT FAILED TO CONSIDER HOW FEW ACTUAL HOURS WERE INCURRED IN PURSUING ONLY THE UNSUCCESSFUL CLAIMS**

**Cases**

*ACLU v. Barnes*, 168 F.3d 423 (11th Cir. 1999)  
*Gates v. Rowland*, 39 F.3d 1439 (9th Cir. 1994)  
*Hensley v. Eckerhart*, 461 U.S. 424 (1983)  
*Herrin v. LaMachys Village at Indigo Lakes, Inc.*, 2011 WL 7333928 (M.D. Fla.)  
*I.W. v. The Sch. Dist. of Philadelphia*, 2016 WL 147148 (E.D. Pa.)  
*Lee v. State*, 874 N.W.2d 631 (Iowa 2016)  
*Mitchell v. Sec'y of Commerce*, 1992 WL 10509 (D.C.D.C.)  
*Rode v. Dellarciprete*, 892 F.2d 1177 (3d Cir. 1990)  
*United States v. Eleven Vehicles*, 200 F.3d 203 (3d Cir. 2000)  
*Vaughan v. Must, Inc.*, 542 N.W.2d 533 (Iowa 1996)  
*Wales v. Jack M. Berry, Inc.*, 192 F. Supp. 2d 1313 (M.D. Fla. 2001)

**B. THE PERCENTAGE REDUCTION CHOSEN BY THE DISTRICT COURT BEARS NO RELATION TO THE ACTUAL TIME SPENT PURSUING ONLY THE UNSUCCESSFUL CLAIMS**

**Cases**

*Dutcher v. Randall Foods*, 546 N.W.2d 889 (Iowa 1996)  
*Edson v. Chambers*, 519 N.W.2d 832 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)  
*Goos v. Nat'l Ass'n of Realtors*, 68 F.3d 1380 (D.C. Cir. 1995)  
*Grant v. Martinez*, 973 F.2d 96 (2d Cir. 1992)  
*Greene v. Dillingham Const., N.A., Inc.*, 101 Cal. App. 4th 418 (2002)  
*Jenkins v. Missouri*, 127 F.3d 709 (8th Cir. 1997)  
*Jordan v. City of Cleveland*, 464 F.3d 584 (6th Cir. 2006)  
*Landals v. George A. Rolfes Co.*, 454 N.W.2d 891 (Iowa 1990)  
*Lee v. State*, 874 N.W.2d 631 (Iowa 2016)  
*Leuzinger v. County of Lake*, 2009 WL 839056 (N.D. Cal.)  
*Lewis v. Heartland Inns of America, L.L.C.*, 764 F. Supp. 2d 1037 (S.D. Iowa 2011)  
*Miller v. Davenport Cmty. Sch. Dist.*, 2000 WL 210292 (Iowa Ct. App.)  
*Smith v. Iowa State Univ. of Sci. & Tech.*, 885 N.W.2d 620 (Iowa 2016)  
*Wallace v. DTG Operations, Inc.*, 563 F.3d 357 (8th Cir. 2009)  
*Wooldridge v. Marlene Indus. Corp.*, 898 F.2d 1169 (6th Cir. 1990)

**C. THE DISTRICT COURT FAILED TO CONSIDER THE HIGH DEGREE OF PLAINTIFF'S OVERALL SUCCESS**

**Cases**

*City of Riverside v. Rivera*, 477 U.S. 561 (1986)  
*Gabelmann v. NFO, Inc.*, 606 N.W.2d 339 (Iowa 2000)  
*Hensley v. Eckerhart*, 461 U.S. 424 (1983)  
*Jenkins v. Missouri*, 127 F.3d 709 (8th Cir. 1997)  
*Lee v. State*, 874 N.W.2d 631 (Iowa 2016)  
*Loggins v. Delo*, 999 F.2d 364 (8th Cir. 1993)  
*Lynch v. City of Des Moines*, 464 N.W.2d 236 (Iowa 1990)  
*Partington v. Broyhill Furniture Indus.*, 999 F.2d 269 (7th Cir. 1993)

**D. THE DISTRICT COURT FAILED TO CONSIDER HOW  
PLAINTIFF'S ATTORNEYS' WORK ADVANCED THE  
PUBLIC INTEREST**

**Cases**

*Ayala v. Center Line, Inc.*, 415 N.W.2d 603 (Iowa 1987)

*City of Riverside v. Rivera*, 477 U.S. 561 (1986)

*Lee v. State*, 874 N.W.2d 631 (Iowa 2016)

*Lynch v. City of Des Moines*, 464 N.W.2d 236 (Iowa 1990)

*Newman v. Piggie Park Enter., Inc.*, 390 U.S. 400 (1968)

**II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO AWARD  
AT LEAST 60% OF PLAINTIFF'S LITIGATION EXPENSES**



## ROUTING STATEMENT

Because this case presents substantial questions of enunciating or changing legal principles, Plaintiff respectfully requests that it be retained by this Court. In addition, this Court is best equipped to judge whether the district court's decision was consistent with its prior instructions.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

**Nature of the Case:** Plaintiff appeals from the district court's order cutting her attorney fees by 40% and failing to order Defendants to reimburse her for the vast majority of her litigation expenses.

**Procedural History:** In September 2007, the jury found that Defendants fired Plaintiff Tina Lee in violation of the Family Medical Leave Act ("FMLA"). *Lee v. State*, 815 N.W.2d 731, 735 (Iowa 2012) (*Lee I*).

On October 26, 2007, the district court ordered Defendants to reinstate Tina to the job from which she was illegally fired and ordered Defendants to pay her wages until the actual day of the reinstatement. *Id.* at 735. The court also granted Plaintiff's motion for attorney fees under the FMLA. *Id.*

Reinstatement was stayed by this Court, pending Defendants' appeal. *Id.* After affirmance by the Court of Appeals, this Court granted further review. *Id.* at 735-36. The Court of Appeals' opinion was vacated based on the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Coleman v. Court of Appeals of Maryland*, 132

S.Ct. 1327 (2012). *Id.* at 743. This case was then remanded “to determine what relief granted in its judgment is still available to Lee within the framework of this lawsuit, findings of the jury at trial, and the cloak of immunity protecting the State.” *Id.*

Plaintiff then filed a motion to enforce the district court’s order of equitable relief from October 2007. *Lee v. State*, 844 N.W.2d 668, 673 (Iowa 2014) (*Lee II*). The court granted the motion. *Id.* at 673-74.

Defendants appealed again. This Court affirmed, agreeing with the district court that, notwithstanding the State’s Eleventh Amendment immunity, equitable relief was an appropriate remedy against the Clerk of Court under *Ex parte Young*, 209 U.S. 123 (1908). *Id.* at 684.

Back at the district court, after Defendants indicated their intent not to pay any of Plaintiff’s attorney fees or litigation expenses, Plaintiff filed a Third Supplemental Motion for Attorney Fees. *Lee v. State*, 874 N.W.2d 631, 636-37 (Iowa 2016) (“*Lee III*”). She sought enforcement of the prior fee awards, as well as the additional fees and expenses incurred since the last order was entered. *Id.* Alternatively, in the event that Defendants did not agree that the prior judgments were enforceable, Plaintiff requested that Defendants be required to pay all her fees at her attorneys’ current hourly rates. 3d Motion Fees 5/1/14 at 3-4 (App. 39-40).

Defendants resisted, claiming that their Eleventh Amendment immunity allowed them to refuse to pay an employee's attorney fees awarded under the FMLA. Resp. 3d Motion Fees, p. 1 (App. 54).

Plaintiff filed a Statement of Additional Attorney Fees and Expenses at the June 24, 2014, hearing. Statement Add'l Fees 6/24/14 (App. 57-60). The district court granted Plaintiff's motion, holding that this case remained an FMLA case, for which fees were properly shifted to an employer who broke the law. Order 7/17/14,<sup>1</sup> p. 5 (App. 65). It also held that because portions of the relief were still enforceable, the prior fee orders could also be enforced. Order 7/17/14, p. 5 (App. 65). Thus, Plaintiff's attorneys' time prior to 2008 was compensated at their old rates.

In their third appeal, Defendants claimed that because the Plaintiff relied on *Ex Parte Young* to obtain relief, this was no longer an FMLA case so Plaintiff was no longer entitled to any attorney fees at all. *Lee III*, 874 N.W.2d at 646. The Court rejected that argument in *Lee III*, just like it had in *Lee II*. *See id.*

Nevertheless, although Defendants had not preserved error on its new argument that the amount of fees awarded was too high, the Court held the district court erred in failing to ensure that fees were not awarded for tasks specifically related to seeking retrospective relief. *Id.* at 648.

---

<sup>1</sup> The Order was signed June 26, 2014, but not filed until July 17, 2014.

The case was once again remanded, with instructions to award Plaintiff attorney fees consistent with prior case law, but excluding “fees and costs Lee incurred in proving aspects of her claims for retroactive relief that were wholly unrelated to the common core of facts or legal theories establishing her entitlement to prospective relief.” *Id.* at 650.

Plaintiff filed a new Application for Attorney Fees and Expenses (App. 67-101), along with a Brief (App. 102-109) which incorporated by reference her Brief of October 1, 2007. (App. 1-16). Defendants resisted. (App. 110-113). Plaintiff filed a Reply to that Resistance. (App. 114-117). A hearing was held on October 3, 2016 (*see* Hearing Transcript (App. 122-142)), after which the district court issued its ruling. (Order 10/10/16) (App. 143-147).

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The FMLA does not allow actual damages for anything except lost wages. 29 U.S.C. § 2617(a)(1)(A). Consequently, no fees or costs were expended during the discovery process or trial related to family members or medical professionals testifying about damages for emotional distress.

At trial, the parties stipulated to the amount of Tina Lee’s lost wages. (Hearing Transcript, p. 6) (App. 127). Little to no time was consumed for the parties simply to inform the jury the amounts they agreed Plaintiff had lost. The trial was about liability and only liability.

Plaintiff filed a post-trial motion and brief to obtain liquidated damages, but that took very little time since most of it had been copied from work done for previous clients. *See* Fee Appl., Ex. 1, p. 6 (cutting one hour for work related to liquidated damages).

Ultimately, Tina Lee was reinstated and is being allowed to work out the rest of her tenure in peace. She recovered \$377,279, which was the dollar value of her delayed reinstatement plus interest. Tina's IPERS account was amended to give her credit for the years she missed. This will enable her to retire at the time she would have been eligible but for Defendants' violations of the FMLA.

At the time Tina Lee was fired in 2004 until this Court's decision in *Lee II*, it was the position of the State of Iowa that its 50,000 or so employees had no remedy when it violated the self-care provisions of the FMLA. While state workers had (on paper) the right to take a leave of absence to seek treatment for and recover from a serious health condition, Defendants claimed the power to fire them for it at will. Because of Tina, her lawyers, and this Court, that is no longer the case. Defendants now know that employees have an actual remedy in the event they ignore federal law like they did with respect to Tina. State workers have been assured that their rights are real and enforceable. Civil rights attorneys now know exactly what to do to force the State of Iowa to follow the FMLA.

## ARGUMENT

**Preservation of Error:** Plaintiff preserved error in making her Application for Attorney Fees and Expenses (App. 67-101), filing her Brief (App. 102-109), filing her Reply to Defendants' Resistance (App. 114-117), and making her oral arguments to the district court. (App. 116).

**Standard of Review:** The standard of review is abuse of discretion. *Lee III*, 874 N.W.2d at 649; *Hensley v. Eckerhart*, 461 U.S. 424, 436-37 (1983).

## INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff's attorneys have been working on this case since she was fired in 2004. Although this matter is on its fourth trip to the Supreme Court, this is the first time Plaintiff is the appellant. In each of the other appeals, Plaintiff was defending relief she had obtained at the trial court level. Indeed, if Plaintiff had not responded to each of Defendants' previous three appeals, she would not have received any remedy for their violations of federal law. In doing so, Plaintiff naturally incurred attorney fees for which federal law requires compensation.

### **I. THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY CUTTING PLAINTIFF'S FEES FAR MORE DRASTICALLY THAN WOULD FAIRLY ACCOUNT FOR HER INABILITY TO RECOVER RESTROSPECTIVE RELIEF**

On February 12, 2016, the Iowa Supreme Court issued its latest opinion in this case, finding the district court correctly ordered Defendants to pay

Plaintiff's attorney fees and expenses, but finding the court was required to take into account any fees and expenses incurred in seeking retrospective money damages that were not recoverable because of Defendants' sovereign immunity. The case was remanded for entry of a new order for the attorney fees and expenses incurred seeking prospective relief "in accordance with the principles set forth in [the] opinion." *Lee III*, 874 N.W.2d at 650.

This Court made clear that all the general principles governing attorney fee awards apply to this case, particularly those related to lawsuits in which the plaintiff does not succeed on every single claim or contention. *Id.* at 648-49. While the Court may not award fees that were "*obviously* incurred in pursuing only the unsuccessful claims," an attorney's fees related to claims "involving 'a common core of facts' or 'based on related legal theories'" are recoverable. *Id.* at 649. The *Lee III* opinion included specific guidance from the United States Supreme Court case of *Hensley v. Eckerhart*: "[T]wo questions much be addressed: **First**, did the plaintiff fail to prevail on claims that were unrelated to the claims on which he succeeded? **Second**, did the plaintiff achieve a level of success that makes the hours reasonably expended a satisfactory basis for making a fee award?" *Id.* at 649 (quoting *Hensley*, 461 U.S. at 434) (emphasis added).

The trial court said the answer to the first question was no—that there was no claim unrelated to Plaintiff’s request for prospective relief. “This court has consistently found that the legal work performed by plaintiff’s attorneys is so inclined as to make a common core for all relief initially sought by plaintiff. Tina Lee’s claims for monetary relief and reinstatement are so intertwined as to make them inseparable.” Order 10/10/16, p. 3 (App. 145).

This conclusion appears to be different than the law of the case, as set forth in *Lee III*. The heart of this Court’s rationale for remanding the case rather than affirming the 2014 fee award was that there had to have been at least some attorney fees expended that were solely related to the awards for money damages. The Court noted: “The documentation Lee submitted to the district court reveals a portion of the attorney fees the court awarded Lee was specific to her claims for retroactive monetary relief. For example, Lee requested attorney fees her counsel charged for calculating her lost wages and bringing her claim for liquidated damages.” *Lee III*, 874 N.W.2d at 648. This is true.

Plaintiff understands *Lee III* to stand for the proposition that it would violate the State’s sovereign immunity to require it to pay attorney fees that were incurred strictly for the purpose of obtaining retrospective relief. The *Lee III* Court held that, as a matter of law, when sovereign immunity is involved, a



claim for retrospective relief can never be part of “a common core of facts” for which fees are recoverable.

If that was the extent of the district court’s error, Plaintiff would not have appealed. It was in answering *Hensley’s* second question that the analysis really went astray and caused prejudice. Did the plaintiff achieve a level of success that makes the hours reasonably expended a satisfactory basis for making a fee award? *See id.* at 649.

In analyzing this issue, other courts have consistently simply compared the relief obtained with the fees incurred, giving due consideration to how the resulted benefited the public. *See* Sections C & D, *infra*.

In contrast, the district court dissected the entire litigation into five “issues” and then engaged in a bizarre kind of quantitative breakdown about whether the plaintiff won or lost each point.

The Order states:

In the case at hand, Tina Lee basically has addressed five distinct matters in this action. These five areas are: (1) sovereign immunity [monetary damages for wrongful termination]; (2) reinstatement of her employment; (3) reinstatement of employee benefits [IPERS etc.]; (4) an award of attorney fees and costs, and; (5) the amount of attorney fees and costs. The Iowa Supreme Court in its various opinions has addressed all five issues. Defendant was successful in the first and last areas. Plaintiff was successful on appeal in all the remaining three (3) areas.

Order 10/10/16, p. 3 (App. 145). The court then divided five by two and concluded that Plaintiff's attorney fees should be slashed by 2/5 or 40%. Order 10/10/16, pp. 3-4 (App. 145-146).

The court gave no advance notice that it might be considering such an unprecedented procedure, and neither party was allowed to give any input into what they believed the main issues had actually been or which side had prevailed on each of those issues.

The most glaring error in this procedure was the court's failure to recognize **liability** as the first and most crucial issue in the case. Virtually all attorney fees expended during discovery and trial focused on the question of whether Defendants violated the substantive provisions of the FMLA and retaliated against Plaintiff for exercising her rights under the statute. The court's ad hoc segmentation of the case did not give Plaintiff any credit for winning the integral and time-intensive battle to establish Defendants' liability.

It is also difficult to see how the amount of attorney fees could fairly have been considered one of the five main issues in the litigation, since Defendants have *never* disputed the reasonableness of Plaintiff's fees. *See Lee III*, 874 N.W.2d at 648. In addition, which party was successful on that issue was to be determined by the court's October 2016 Order itself. Like a circular reference in an Excel spreadsheet, that question could not be answered without

factoring in the answer to that very question. Plaintiff's *entitlement* to attorney fees should not have been dependent on the *outcome* of her application for attorney fees.

**A. THE DISTRICT COURT FAILED TO CONSIDER HOW FEW ACTUAL HOURS WERE INCURRED IN PURSUING ONLY THE UNSUCCESSFUL CLAIMS**

Having no idea how much actual time was spent specifically pursuing money damages, the *Lee III* opinion entrusted the district court to exercise its discretion to decide the most appropriate way to ensure that those fees were not included in the award. “Precisely how the district court determines an attorney fee award to reimburse Lee for fees she reasonably incurred in pursuit of her claims for prospective relief is within its discretion.” *Id.* at 649-50 *see also Hensley*, 461 U.S. at 437. “““There is no precise rule or formula for making these determinations. The district court may attempt to identify specific hours that should be eliminated, or it can simply reduce the award to account for the limited success. The court necessarily has discretion in making this equitable judgment.””” *Id.* at 649 (quoting *Vaughan v. Must, Inc.*, 542 N.W.2d 533, 541 (Iowa 1996) (quoting *Hensley*, 461 U.S. at 433)).

Plaintiff identified 7.1 hours that were spent working on obtaining retrospective relief. Notably, Defendants failed to identify any additional hours they believed were non-compensable. *See* Def. Resistance (App. 110-113).

Under these circumstances the district court abused its discretion by failing simply to cut Plaintiff's total hours by 7.1 and awarding her compensation for the remaining hours.

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