**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

**No. 16–1884**

---

**TINA ELIZABETH LEE,**

**Appellant,**

**vs.**

**STATE OF IOWA and POLK COUNTY CLERK OF COURT,**

**Appellees.**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY  
HONORABLE JAMES M. RICHARDSON, JUDGE**

---

**APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF AND  
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

---

**THOMAS J. MILLER  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF IOWA**

**JEFFREY S. THOMPSON  
SOLICITOR GENERAL**

**DAVID M. RANSCHT  
JEFFREY PETERZALEK  
Assistant Attorneys General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
Ph: (515) 281-7175  
E-mail: David.Ranscht2@iowa.gov  
Jeffrey.Peterzalek@iowa.gov**

**

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE DISTRICT COURT'S FEE CALCULATION METHODOLOGY AND ULTIMATE AWARD IN THIS CASE WERE WITHIN ITS DISCRETION.

Preservation of Error: The State agrees Lee preserved error.

Standard of Review: Review is for an abuse of discretion. *NevadaCare, Inc. v. Dep't of Human Servs.*, 783 N.W.2d 459, 469 (Iowa 2010). In attorney fee matters, the district court's discretion is broad. *Lee III*, 874 N.W.2d at 649; *accord Tilton v. Iowa Power & Light Co.*, 250 Iowa 583, 590, 94 N.W.2d 782, 786 (1959) ("considerable"). Its decision is "presumed to be correct until the contrary is shown." *Bremicker v. MCI Telecomms. Corp.*, 420 N.W.2d 427, 428 (Iowa 1988).

No abuse of discretion occurs even if "the fee is at the low end of a permissible range for the services performed" and even if it might discourage the attorney(s) from undertaking similar cases in the future. *Green v. Iowa Dist. Ct.*, 415 N.W.2d 606, 609 (Iowa 1987); *accord Tilton*, 250 Iowa at 591, 94 N.W.2d at 786 (concluding that although "a larger allowance of attorney fees might have been upheld," the amount ordered was not manifestly inadequate). Many abuses of discretion in attorney fee matters occur at either end of a spectrum: when the district court inadequately awards *zero* fees or when it

awards *all* requested fees just because the case presents a common core of facts. *See, e.g., Smith*, 885 N.W.2d at 624 (“[T]he district court abused its discretion in awarding Smith all of his requested attorney fees on the ground that this case presented a ‘common core of facts.’ ”); *Lee III*, 874 N.W.2d at 650 (“[T]he [district] court must reduce its initial award . . . to ensure it does not include fees and costs Lee incurred in proving aspects of her claims for retroactive relief . . . .”); *Dutcher v. Randall Foods*, 546 N.W.2d 889, 894–95 (Iowa 1996) (premature denial of any fees).<sup>4</sup>

While the standard of review does not alone control the Court’s decision, it illustrates that Lee’s burden on appeal—when the amount awarded was neither a blanket zero nor a blanket “everything”—is heavy.

Argument: *Lee III* emphasized that “there is no precise methodology the district court must employ to calculate an appropriate award.” *Lee III*, 874 N.W.2d at 650; *see id.* at 649–50 (stating the same point two more times). Rather, on remand, the district court was merely required to provide a concise

---

<sup>4</sup>*But see Gabelmann v. NFO, Inc.*, 606 N.W.2d 339, 344 (Iowa 2000) (remanding for a new fee award because the district court placed “undue emphasis on the size of the judgment, to the exclusion of all other pertinent factors”); *Olson v. Niemans, Ltd.*, 579 N.W.2d 299, 316 (Iowa 1998) (affirming a wholesale denial of attorney fees); *Wooldridge v. Cent. United Life Ins. Co.*, 568 N.W.2d 44, 50 (Iowa 1997) (reducing a fee award further than the district court did).

explanation of its reasons for the award. *See id.* at 650. It could do so by making “clear that it . . . considered the relationship between the amount of the fee awarded and the results obtained.” *Hensley v. Eckerhart*, 461 U.S. 424, 437, 103 S. Ct. 1933, 1941 (1983).

The district court’s new fee award follows that directive. It balances the relatedness of the legal work performed with the delay in payment, notes Lee’s success, and avoids entering a greater fee award than the one vacated in *Lee III*.

While Lee may second-guess the district court’s reliance on particular factors or its relative weighing of them, disagreement does not establish the district court abused its discretion. *See Lynch v. City of Des Moines*, 464 N.W.2d 236, 239 (Iowa 1990). This Court should affirm.

**A. *Lee III* required the district court to reduce its initial award but did not remove the district court’s overarching discretion to determine the amount of the reduction.**

The gravamen of Lee’s appeal is that the district court disregarded both federal law and *Lee III*’s instructions; she notes federal law “requires compensation” under these facts (Lee Br. at 9) and calls the district court’s decision bizarre (Lee Br. at 12), “virtually random” (Lee Br. at 17), and “unprecedented and nonsensical” (Lee Br. at 20).



But the story is a little deeper than that. The law requires *some* compensation under these facts, but not necessarily the full amount Lee requested. *Lee III*, 874 N.W.2d at 647 (“[T]he amount of fees awarded is within the district court’s broad discretion.”). Furthermore, *Lee III* instructed the district court to reduce its initial award without specifying the exact steps it should undertake or the number it should reach. *Id.* at 650. Rather, *Lee III* properly let the district court—indeed, the same judge who has overseen this case since its inception—be the calculator, with one condition: the district court’s award could not include any fees incurred in seeking retrospective relief. *Id.*; see *Hensley*, 461 U.S. at 437, 103 S. Ct. at 1941 (acknowledging the district court often has “superior understanding of the litigation”); *In re Condemnation of Lands*, 261 Iowa 146, 155, 153 N.W.2d 706, 711 (1967) (Garfield, C.J., dissenting in part) (“Certainly the trial court knew considerably more about the case than we do.”).

That limiting principle worked only in one direction; it imposed a singular mandate but did not foreclose the district court from considering other factors and weighing them as it saw fit, according to its expert judgment. *Lee III*, 874 N.W.2d at 649 (noting fees related to claims involving a common core of facts are *recoverable*—not that the district court must award them); see *Schaffer v.*

*Frank Moyer Constr., Inc.*, 628 N.W.2d 11, 24 (Iowa 2001) (“The district court is an expert on the issue of reasonable attorney fees.”). Nor did it order an exact reduction, despite Lee’s assertions to that effect at the hearing. (App. 141.) Recognizing as much, the district court merely followed the directions *Lee III* gave it. Following directions on remand is not an abuse of discretion.

**B. The district court appropriately balanced competing concerns and factors in setting the fee award.**

*Smith* describes the process a district court must follow when exercising its discretion in setting the amount of fees awarded under a fee-shifting statute:

[W]hile fees can be awarded for time devoted generally to the litigation as a whole, the district court should make an appropriate reduction for unrelated time spent on unsuccessful claims . . . . Then, after this initial step has been performed, if the plaintiff only obtained partial or limited success on the claim for which the legislature authorized fees, the court must consider the reasonableness of the hours expended in light of this ultimate result. The second step may warrant a further reduction.

*Smith*, 885 N.W.2d at 625–26 (footnote omitted). Those principles are longstanding; for decades district courts awarding fees have been “entitled to consider . . . the result obtained.” *Tilton*, 250 Iowa at 590, 94 N.W.2d at 786; *see also In re Condemnation of Lands*, 261 Iowa at 153, 153 N.W.2d at 710 (majority opinion) (“The determination of reasonable attorney fees must be made [within] the context of the whole case . . . .”). Under those principles, “a

reduction in the fee award may be appropriate even if the entire lawsuit flows from a common core of facts.” *Smith*, 885 N.W.2d at 624; accord *Lee III*, 874 N.W.2d at 649–50 (acknowledging the district court “may properly award . . . fees” based on a common core of facts but nonetheless requiring the district court on remand to “reduce its initial award”).

In this case, the district court understood its obligation to follow *Lee III* and *Smith*, and ruled accordingly. It noted Lee prevailed in some aspects of the lawsuit while the State prevailed in others. (Dist. Ct. Ruling pp. 3–4, App. 145–46.) It found that although Lee sought different types of relief, her attorneys’ work supporting requests for both prospective relief and monetary damages were intertwined. (App. 145.) It further concluded Lee’s suit succeeded because she has been reinstated and, to offset “delay in payment,” granted Lee’s request to calculate all fees at her attorneys’ current hourly rates. (App. 145.) As Lee acknowledges, that marked a change from the district court’s previous fee awards. (Lee Br. at 6.)

But the court also recognized that “*Lee III* requires a second step analysis based on the ultimate result or partial success of a case.” (App. 145.) So it ultimately chose the option that *Smith* allows: a reduction even if the lawsuit flows from a common core of facts. *See Smith*, 885 N.W.2d at 624. Because

the court assessed fees at the attorneys' current rates, the net award of both fees and costs (over \$223,000) is only marginally (4%) less than the award vacated in *Lee III* (over \$233,000).

While the Supreme Court has stated that a “fee award should not be reduced simply because the plaintiff failed to prevail on every contention raised in the lawsuit,” *Hensley*, 461 U.S. at 435, 103 S. Ct. at 1940, the decision in *Lee III* stated otherwise, *see Lee III*, 874 N.W.2d at 650. Indeed, the *Hensley* Court also held that a court may utilize its discretion to reduce a fee award “even where the plaintiff’s claims were interrelated, nonfrivolous, and raised in good faith”—as Lee’s claims were here. *Hensley*, 461 U.S. at 436, 103 S. Ct. at 1941.

In this case, the district court did exactly that. The court utilized a percentage reduction as one step in its calculation, but that was not the end of its analysis; it tempered the impact of the reduction with an increase in the applicable hourly rates. Thus, the district court’s approach was not purely mechanical or simplistic. Nor did it ignore Lee’s degree of success or the important public interest that was vindicated; those considerations are rolled in to the rate increase. Most importantly, however, the district court reduced Lee’s attorney fees based on a qualitative assessment of her relative success—not on a strictly numerical relationship with her actual damages. *See Vaughan v. Must*,

*Inc.*, 542 N.W.2d 533, 541 (Iowa 1996) (rejecting an assertion that the court should “tie the recovery of fees to a precise ratio of the amount of damages awarded”); *Lynch*, 464 N.W.2d at 239 (similar). Because it did not tie Lee’s fees to her monetary damages, the statements in *Gabelmann v. NFO, Inc.*, 606 N.W.2d 339, 344 (Iowa 2000) and *City of Riverside v. Rivera*, 477 U.S. 561, 580–81 (1986) cautioning against such a practice should not cause the Court any heartburn here. To the extent Lee implies that the district court assessed fees in proportion to her monetary recovery, the implication lacks support in the record.

The district court’s decision is consistent with Iowa caselaw generally addressing attorney fee awards. In most contexts, as long as the district court awards some fees and shows its work, an attorney fee award is rarely found manifestly inadequate on appeal. *See, e.g., Lara v. Thomas*, 512 N.W.2d 777, 786–87 (Iowa 1994) (affirming a fee award that represented a seventy-five percent reduction because the district court “considered a number of factors,” including the extent of overlap between claims “and the overall degree of success”); *Lynch*, 464 N.W.2d at 240 (affirming a district court’s award of approximately \$95,000 after the plaintiff requested \$171,000); *Landals v. George A. Rolfes Co.*, 454 N.W.2d 891, 897–98 (Iowa 1990) (affirming a fee award both parties had appealed because the district court properly “viewed the

case as a whole” and determined certain “factors balanced out each other”); *Green*, 415 N.W.2d at 608–09; *Coonrad v. Van Metre*, 362 N.W.2d 197, 200 (Iowa 1985) (concluding a rate of \$40 per hour for indigent criminal defense work was not “so low as to be an abuse of discretion” despite affidavits establishing most attorneys in the area would charge “\$50 to \$75 per hour for similar work”); *see also Miss. Valley Broad., Inc. v. Mitchell*, 503 N.W.2d 617, 619–20 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993) (finding no abuse of discretion in a district court’s fee award that reduced the plaintiff’s request by about ninety percent).

Likewise, this Court has often affirmed fee awards challenged as excessive. *See, e.g., McNally & Nimergood v. Neumann-Kiewit Constructors, Inc.*, 648 N.W.2d 564, 578 (Iowa 2002) (concluding a twenty percent reduction adequately assured the fee award was not excessive); *Equity Control Assocs. v. Root*, 638 N.W.2d 664, 673–74 (Iowa 2001) (finding no abuse of discretion in a fee award that represented “roughly seventy percent of the amount requested”); *Vaughan*, 542 N.W.2d at 541–42 (Iowa 1996) (affirming a fee award because the district court “examined the case as a whole” and applied a twenty-five percent reduction to account for the plaintiff’s respective successes and failures). Infrequent reversals on either inadequacy or excessiveness grounds are a tangible illustration of the abuse-of-discretion standard.

The district court’s decision in this case is also consistent with caselaw from other jurisdictions addressing both mandatory fee awards under the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) and other fee-shifting provisions. Other courts’ decisions are persuasive here because the important civil rights at stake suggest courts’ discretion in fee matters should be roughly similar across jurisdictions. *See Dutcher*, 546 N.W.2d at 898.

For example, in an opinion filed after the decision in *Lee III*, the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals rejected a plaintiff’s assertion that the FMLA attorney fee award was inadequate under *Hensley*, concluding the reduction for partial success—the plaintiff prevailed on one claim out of several—was not too severe. *Hernandez v. Bridgestone Ams. Tire Operations, LLC*, 831 F.3d 940, 948–49 (8th Cir. 2016) (per curiam); *see also Marez v. Saint-Gobain Containers, Inc.*, 688 F.3d 958, 966 (8th Cir. 2012) (affirming a fifty percent reduction from a FMLA fee award); *Andrade v. Jamestown Hous. Auth.*, 82 F.3d 1179, 1191 (1st Cir. 1996) (concluding a ninety-one percent reduction under the fee-shifting provision in 42 U.S.C. § 1988 was not a misapplication of *Hensley* or an abuse of discretion).

Similarly, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed a district court’s thirty-percent reduction for a FMLA fee award because the plaintiff “did not

obtain all the relief requested in his complaint.” *Dotson v. Pfizer, Inc.*, 558 F.3d 284, 303 (4th Cir. 2009); *see also Ky. Rest. Concepts, Inc. v. City of Louisville*, 117 F. App’x 415, 421 (6th Cir. 2004) (affirming a thirty-five percent reduction under § 1988 even though the plaintiffs obtained a permanent injunction—the primary relief they sought); *Scheeler v. Crane Co.*, 21 F.3d 791, 793 (8th Cir. 1994) (affirming a thirty-two percent reduction under the Iowa Civil Rights Act because the plaintiff did not recover every measure of damages she initially claimed); *Loggins v. Delo*, 999 F.2d 364, 369 (8th Cir. 1993) (concluding a twenty-eight percent reduction under § 1988 did not violate *Hensley* because considering “limited success” includes weighing the types of damages requested against the type obtained). And a federal district court in Virginia reduced a FMLA fee award even though the plaintiff’s claims were “somewhat interrelated” because “she . . . received only part of the relief she requested.” *Lusk v. Va. Panel Corp.*, 96 F. Supp. 3d 573, 583 (W.D. Va. 2015). Even accounting for Lee’s substantive success in this case, the district court was still entitled to make the reduction it did.



**C. Under this case’s unique circumstances, the Court itself can make any necessary adjustments to the award rather than remanding the case yet again.**

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